Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-20-2020 3:00 PM

Elucidating the Role of Host Tim-1 in Anti-tumour Immunity

Ingrid Hon, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Gunaratnam, Lakshman, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Microbiology and Immunology © Ingrid Hon 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Hon, Ingrid, "Elucidating the Role of Host Tim-1 in Anti-tumour Immunity" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7298. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7298

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

ABSTRACT

T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-1 (Tim-1) is expressed by CD4+ T cells, invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, and regulatory B cells (Bregs). Tim-1 expression on CD4+ T cells and iNKT cells typically promote proinflammatory responses, while Tim-1-expressing Bregs are immunosuppressive. However, the potential role of Tim-1 in anti-tumour immunity is unclear. To investigate the effects of Tim-1 on B16F1 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma models, I compared tumour growth and survival between Tim-1-expressing (wild-type) and Tim-1-deficient mice. Using B16F1 melanoma, I demonstrated that Tim-1-deficient mice exhibited delayed tumour growth and improved survival, compared to wild-type mice. When immunized with heat-killed B16F1 melanoma cells, decreased frequencies of Bregs were found in Tim-1-deficient mice. These data suggest that Tim-1 expression may promote tumour growth by inducing Bregs. Therefore, anti-cancer treatments aimed at suppressing the function of Tim-1-expressing Bregs may be of therapeutic value.

LAY SUMMARY

Cancer is a disorder that describes abnormal cell growth or tumours that can interfere with the growth and development of normal cells. The high prevalence and mortality rate of cancer makes it a serious global burden. Throughout the years, various therapies have been developed to treat cancer, but curative therapies remain elusive for most cancers, including colon cancer and melanoma (skin cancer).

The immune system plays a key role in detecting and eliminating cancer throughout life. Developing immunity against cancer (anti-cancer immunity), much like immunity against viruses, has the potential to be curative. While immune cells utilize a variety of mechanisms to kill cancer cells, the existence of cancer cells indicates that cancer cells learn to evade the host's immune system. Cancer cells can escape the immune system by preventing detection or infiltration of immune cells, or by inhibiting the function of immune cells that have infiltrated the tumour. In addition, cancer cells can recruit immune cells that modulate and suppresses the immune system. Therefore, further understanding the workings of anti-cancer immunity may lead to potentially curative cancer therapies.

This study focuses on T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-1 (Tim-1). Tim-1 is a protein found in some important anti-cancer immune cells. However, the role of Tim-1 in anti-cancer immune responses is unclear.

In this study, I tested the effect of host Tim-1 on cancer growth and survival by implanting mouse colon or melanoma tumours into normal mice or mice lacking the gene for Tim-1. I found that mice lacking the Tim-1 gene have improved survival and delayed tumour growth, compared to mice expressing the Tim-1 gene. As well, examination of anti-cancer

immune responses in the mice lacking Tim-1 revealed that they have fewer B cells, a type of immune cell. I conclude that host Tim-1 impairs anti-cancer immune responses. Furthermore, the inhibition of host Tim-1 on B cells may be a new strategy for improving or augmenting host anti-cancer immune response in patients.

KEYWORDS

T cell Immunoglobulin and Mucin Domain-1, Tim-1, Tumour Immunology, Regulatory B cells, Bregs, Melanoma

CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT

Brad Shrum (research technician) from Gunaratnam laboratory at the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at the University of Western Ontario assisted in the intraperitoneal injections of Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice.

Dr. Xizhong Zhang (research associate) from Gunaratnam laboratory at the Department of Microbiology and Immunology at the University of Western Ontario performed the PCR genotyping of Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice.

Weihua (Winnie) Liu from the Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine at the University of Western Ontario processed the tumour samples, prepared slides, and stained them for histopathological analysis.

Dr. Manal Gabril (pathologist) from the Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine at the University of Western Ontario analyzed tumour samples for necrosis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my advisory committee members, Dr. Greg Dekaban and Dr. Zhuxu Zhang, for their constant guidance throughout my graduate studies. Their advice and feedback proved to be invaluable to me in during my graduate research work and helped immensely in improving my experimental planning and preparation of this thesis.

Thank you to all past and present lab members, who provided the support and assistance needed for this project. To my lab manager, Brad Shrum, thank you for always entertaining my countless questions (lab-related or not), handling my mice when they were particularly unfriendly, and overall, for being a great mentor. Thank you to Dr. Xizhong Zhang and Dr. Elena Tutunea-Fatan for always being there to help me troubleshoot my experiments and offering me insightful advice. Thank you to Ji Yun Lee and Demitra Yotis for helping me throughout my graduate studies and keeping things running smoothly.

To the members of the Matthew Mailing Centre for Translational Transplant Studies, Dr. Jacqueline Arp and Patrick McLeod, thank you for helping me with the IncuCyte system and providing your expertise.

Finally, I would like to thank my graduate supervisor, Dr. Lakshman Gunaratnam, for not only overseeing my project, but for providing round-the-clock mentorship. Dr. Gunaratnam has consistently encouraged me to think outside the box, persevere through hardships, and work hard to accomplish my goals. I am extremely grateful to have joined the Dr. Gunaratnam lab and I will continue to apply everything I have learned under his guidance in my future endeavours.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
LAY SUMMARYiii
KEYWORDS v
CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vii
TABLE OF CONTENTSviii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xiv
LIST OF APPENDICES
Chapter 1 1
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Cancer
1.2 The Immune System and Cancer1
1.3 Immunoediting and Immune Evasion7
1.4 T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-1 (Tim-1)
1.5 Tim-1 in the Immune System9
1.6 RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS 11
Chapter 2

2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 13
	2.1 Mice	. 13
	2.2 Murine Tumour Cell Culture	. 13
	2.3 Subcutaneous Tumour Models	. 14
	2.4 Histology	. 14
	2.5 Isolation of Splenocytes	. 15
	2.6 Immunization with Heat-Killed B16F1 Melanoma	. 15
	2.7 Flow Cytometry	. 15
	2.8 IncuCyte Immune Cell Killing Assay	. 18
	2.9 In vivo RMT1-10 Treatment	. 18
	2.10 Statistical Analyses	. 18
Cha	apter 3	. 19
3	RESULTS	. 19
	3.1 Delayed B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and improved survival in Tim-1-	
	deficient mice	. 19
	3.2 Reduced levels of tumour necrosis in Tim-1-deficient mice	. 23
	3.3 In vitro T cell killing of B16F1 melanoma cells	. 26
	3.4 Decreased frequencies of Bregs in Tim-1-deficient mice immunized with B16	F1
	melanoma	. 30

3.5 Effect of anti-Tim-1 monoclonal antibody, RMT1-10, on immune responses
against B16F1 melanoma 38
3.6 Effect of MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma in Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-
deficient mice
Chapter 4
4 DISCUSSION
4.1 Overview of study
4.2 Immune profiles of B16F1 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma 47
4.3 Potential role of Tim-1-expressing Bregs in suppressing anti-tumour immunity 48
4.4 Future studies
4.5 Limitations
4.6 Conclusion
References
APPENDICES
Curriculum Vitae

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APC	antigen presenting cell
Breg	regulatory B cell
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium
FBS	fetal bovine serum
H&E	Hematoxylin & Eosin
HBSS	Hanks' balanced salt solution
IFN	interferon
Ig	immunoglobulin
IL	interleukin
iNKT	invariant natural killer T cell
MDSC	myeloid-derived suppressor cell
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
NK	natural killer
PBS	phosphate buffered solution
PS	phosphatidylserine
PTEC	proximal tubular epithelial cell
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium

TGF	transforming growth factor
Th	T helper
Tim-1	T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-1
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Treg	regulatory T cell
UWO	University of Western Ontario

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Antibodies used for flow cytometry	^r
---	--------------

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Delayed B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and improved survival in
immunocompetent Tim-1-deficient mice
Figure 2. Reduced necrosis in tumours of Tim-1-deficient mice
Figure 3. IncuCyte immune cell killing assay
Figure 4. Decreased frequencies of Bregs in Tim-1-deficient mice immunized with B16F1
melanoma
Figure 5. Effect of anti-Tim-1 mAb RMT1-10 on B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and
survival in Tim-1-expressing mice
survival in Tim-1-expressing mice

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Animal Ethics Approval	62
Appendix B. Supplementary Figures	63
Supplementary Figure 1	63
Supplementary Figure 2	65
Supplementary Figure 3	67

Chapter 1

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Cancer

Cancer is described as a disorder that results from genetic mutations or epigenetic alterations leading to aberrant cell growth. The high prevalence and mortality rate of cancer has made it an enormous global burden throughout the years. Cancer is the second leading cause of death in the world, with approximately one in six deaths being attributed to cancer [1, 2]. While innumerable efforts have been made to improve cancer therapies, the severity of this disease remains, and an effective solution remains elusive.

1.2 The Immune System and Cancer

The immune system is essential in recognizing and eradicating tumours. Tumour cells can lack 'self' molecules, such as MHC class I, or express neoantigens (new antigens formed as a result of tumour mutations that are not recognized by the immune system), and the immune system detects these abnormal cells as 'non-self' [3]. Subsequently, the immune system employs various cell types and mechanisms to eliminate tumour cells. Some key players in anti-tumour immunity include T cells, Natural Killer (NK) cells, invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells, and B cells [4-8].

1.2.1 CD8+ T cells

T cells are a vital component of the adaptive immune system, and T cells can develop into CD8+ T cells or CD4+ T cells. CD8+ T cells are cytotoxic lymphocytes restricted to recognizing antigens presented on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules expressed by antigen presenting cells (APCs). Once activated by antigen-

specific recognition, CD8+ T cells clonally expand into cytotoxic effector cells. Cytotoxic effects of CD8+ T cells are predominantly mediated by the release of perforin and granzyme, which are cytotoxins that trigger apoptosis in target cells, including susceptible tumour cells [5, 9]. Perforin functions to create pores in the cytoplasmic membrane of the target cell, allowing granzyme to enter the cell and activate apoptosis.

In addition to its cytotoxic effects, CD8+ T cells enhance anti-tumour immune responses through cytokine functions. CD8+ T cells produce the proteins tumour necrosis factor $(TNF)-\alpha$ and TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL), which induces apoptosis in tumour cells [5, 6]. TNF is a highly pleiotropic cytokine and plays various roles in tumour immunosurveillance. The effects of TNF include apoptosis, necrosis, immune cell activation, cell migration, and even angiogenesis. As a result, TNF may promote tumour killing or tumour progression [10]. CD8+ T cells also produce IFN- γ to promote the activation and recruitment of NK cells, macrophages, and neutrophils [11]. IFN- γ can enhance the expression of MHC class I antigens by tumour cells, which improves detection and killing by CD8+T cells [12]. Finally, IFN- γ can potentially act directly on tumour cells to inhibit growth [11]. To highlight the importance of IFN- γ in anti-tumour immune responses, a landmark study by Kaplan, et al. demonstrated that IFN- γ receptor-deficient mice are prone to accelerated tumour growth when compared to wild-type mice, in both chemically-induced and spontaneous tumour models [13]. These data serve to emphasize the critical role of CD8+ T cells in anti-tumour immunity.

1.2.2 CD4 + T cells

While CD8+ T cells recognize antigens presented on MHC class I molecules and directly target tumours, CD4+ T cells are restricted to recognizing antigens presented on MHC

class II molecules by APCs. CD4+ T cells further develop into specific T helper (Th) subsets, including Th1, Th2, Th17, and regulatory T cells (Tregs). Th1 cells typically promote immune responses against intracellular pathogens, while Th2 cells generate immune responses against extracellular pathogens and may be implicated in promoting allergic responses. Studies have suggested that Th1 cells can play a role in anti-tumour immune responses by priming CD8+ T cells, recruiting NK cells, and inhibiting angiogenesis [7]. On the other hand, Th2 cells may function to promote or inhibit tumour growth [14]. The production of IL-4 by Th2 cells has been observed to recruit immune cells to the tumour, and the adoptive transfer of Th2 cells promotes the elimination of cytotoxic T lymphocyte resistant-melanoma in mice [7, 14]. In contrast, IL-5-producing Th2 cells were associated with progressive tumour growth in renal cell carcinoma and melanoma in humans [7, 15]. Similarly, Th17 cells, which promote immune responses against extracellular bacteria and fungi, can play a contradicting role in anti-tumour immune responses. In some tumour studies, the cytokine production by Th17 cells was correlated with tumour progression and angiogenesis [7, 16], while other studies have shown that the transfer of Th17 cells is associated with enhanced CD8+ T cell activation and immune cell recruitment to the tumour [7, 17, 18]. Collectively, Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells are generally proinflammatory cells that elicit immune responses potentially favouring anti-tumour immunity.

Interestingly, some studies have shown that CD4+ T cells can even develop direct cytotoxic activity against tumour cells [9, 19, 20]. In a study of melanoma, the transfer of naïve, tumour-reactive CD4+ T cells into lymphocyte-depleted mice resulted in tumour rejection, which was further enhanced by CTLA-4 blockade. This tumour rejection was found to be

the result of acquired cytotoxic CD4+ T cell activity, directly targeting tumour cells presenting antigens on MHC class II molecules. These cytotoxic CD4+ T cells were proposed to function like CD8+ T cells, using granzyme-containing granules to cause tumour cell death [19].

In contrast, regulatory T cells (Tregs) are a subset of CD4+ T cells that tend to be associated with anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive responses [21]. Tregs, responding to chemokines, can be recruited to the tumour and suppress immune cells by producing immunosuppressive cytokines and metabolites, inhibiting APC function, using checkpoint molecules to impair cytotoxic T cell function, and killing effector T cells [21]. Cumulatively, these effects drastically hinder the elimination of tumours, and studies have established that high Treg:CD8 ratios in tumours are associated with poorer patient survival [7]. Therefore, the role of CD4+ T cells in anti-tumour immunity can be variable and may depend on the CD4 subtype and the context of the tumour microenvironment.

1.2.3 NK cells

NK cells are a component of the innate immune system and are lymphoid cells that lack surface T cell receptors or antigen-specific receptors [22]. They are known to kill virally infected cells and tumour cells via NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and cytokine production. Sharing similar functions with CD8+ T cells, NK cells utilize perforin and granzyme to kill infected cells, as well as employing TRAIL to target tumour cells [5]. In addition, NK cells produce IFN- γ , which promotes the function of some innate cells and may directly inhibit tumour growth [11], as previously mentioned. In contrast, specific to NK cell function, NK cells can recognize and kill abnormal cells without the need for prior activation [23]. The 'missing self' hypothesis states that healthy cells will express self-MHC class I molecules, while abnormal cells, including some tumour cells, lack the expression of self-MHC molecules. These abnormal cells are subsequently detected and eradicated by NK cells [24]. However, some tumour cells expressing self-MHC molecules can still be cleared by NK cells, while erythrocytes, lacking in self-MHC-expression, can avoid NK cell killing. This suggests that the activation or inhibition of NK cell activity is not dependent solely on self-MHC expression or a single induction signal. Rather, NK cell activity relies on, and is dictated by, a sum of activation and inhibition signals mediated by different cell surface receptors [23]. Of note, the infiltration of NK cells in solid tumours is associated with an improved prognosis in patients [25]. Thus, NK cells are a crucial component in tumour immunosurveillance.

1.2.4 iNKT cells

iNKT cells are a subset of T cells that share characteristics of both NK cells and T cells, thus they are considered to bridge innate and adaptive immunity [8]. Along with various NK cell surface molecules, iNKT cells express invariant T cell receptors that recognize a diverse range of lipid antigens in a CD1d-restricted manner. Recognition of lipid antigens by iNKT cells results in the production of immunostimulatory cytokines, which enhances the ability of other immune cells, such as APCs, B cells, and T cells, to detect and eradicate tumours. iNKT cells can be activated directly by some CD1d-expressing tumour cells presenting lipid antigens. Alternatively, activation of iNKT cells occurs via presentation of tumour lipids by APCs [26, 27]. More importantly, human iNKT cells have been shown to have cytotoxic effects against CD1d-expressing osteosarcoma tumours [26, 28]. Osteosarcoma cells expressing CD1d were effectively recognized and killed by iNKT cells, whereas osteosarcoma cells without CD1d expression were not eliminated [26, 28]. In

addition, a model of murine breast cancer showed that the downregulation of CD1d expression by tumour cells inhibited iNKT cell-mediated killing and promoted metastases [26, 29]. These data demonstrate the importance of iNKT cells in anti-tumour immunity.

1.2.5 B cells

Finally, the role of B cells in cancer has been widely disputed due to their dual effects on promoting and inhibiting anti-tumour immune responses [4]. Antibodies produced by plasma cells, which are derived from B cells, can recognize tumour antigens to induce complement-mediated tumour killing, Fc-mediated phagocytosis, and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity [4]. These mechanisms promote the recognition of tumours by phagocytes and NK cells. Additionally, B cells function as APCs, serving to activate T cells and potentially bolstering anti-cancer responses. Of clinical relevance, the presence of B cells in tumour infiltrates have been correlated with improved patient survival in some tumours [4]. However, B cells have also been shown to suppress immune responses. Antibodies bound to antigens can form immune complexes, which induce the production of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), leading to inhibition of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell activity [4, 30-32]. A subset of B cells, regulatory B cells (Bregs), are immunomodulatory cells critical for regulating immune homeostasis. Bregs produce a variety of cytokines, including IL-10 and TGF- β to inhibit proinflammatory cells and promote the generation of Tregs, MDSCs, and other immunosuppressive cells [4, 30-32]. It has been shown that using IL-10, Bregs suppressed inflammation in models of colitis, arthritis, and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [33-36]. More importantly, it was reported that IL-10 production by Bregs can suppress the phagocytic capacity of macrophages and promote tumour progression [31, 37, 38]. Additionally, in a murine

model of breast cancer, anti-CD20 was used to deplete B cells. Since Bregs express low levels of CD20, Bregs were not depleted and tumour metastasis was paradoxically enhanced in this study [31, 37, 39]. Thus, while B cells can promote tumour killing by serving as APCs to activate tumour-specific T cells, some subsets (e.g. Bregs) can be detrimental to anti-tumour responses.

1.3 Immunoediting and Immune Evasion

While the immune system may seem efficient at detecting and eradicating tumours (immunosurveillance), one of the fundamental hallmarks of cancer is the ability to evade the immune system [2]. It can be argued that a tumour cannot exist without the ability to evade the host immune response. This involves the concept of immunoediting, which describes immunosurveillance and cancer progression via three phases – elimination, equilibrium, and escape [40, 41]. The elimination phase requires immune cells to successfully detect and eradicate tumour cells completely. Equilibrium describes a phase of dormancy, where there is a balance between tumour elimination and tumour progression. While the immune system remains active to kill tumour cells, tumour elimination is not complete. In the equilibrium phase, the immune system essentially selects for tumour cells with the ability to avoid immune detection and elimination. However, tumour cells can be maintained in the equilibrium phase for long periods of time. Some tumour cells can no longer be controlled or maintained by the immune system and enters the escape phase, where tumours are clinically detectable [40, 41].

In order to escape the immune system, tumour cells frequently inhibit the host lymphocytes that directly mediate or regulate anti-tumour immunity, including T cells, NK cells, and iNKT cells [42]. For instance, tumours create an immunosuppressive microenvironment to

evade the immune system by recruiting regulatory T cells, regulatory B cells, and myeloidderived suppressor cells, stimulating the production of immunosuppressive cytokines (eg. IL-10 and TGF- β), and/or expressing immune checkpoint molecules to inhibit activated lymphocytes [43-45]. Immune checkpoint molecules are normally expressed by immune cells to suppress and regulate immune responses. However, some tumour cells exploit this mechanism and use immune checkpoint molecules to evade the immune system [46]. In the past few years, dramatic improvements in anti-cancer therapies have arisen due to the discovery of checkpoint inhibitors (eg. Nivolumab) that serve to block these immune evasion pathways. However, despite their effectiveness, only a small fraction of patients respond to them [47]. Therefore, discovering novel mechanisms of anti-cancer immunity will be crucial to developing future cancer therapies.

1.4 T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-1 (Tim-1)

Tim-1 is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein [48, 49] that is expressed in a variety of cell types in the host, including both immune cells and parenchymal cells. Tim-1 functions as a receptor for ligands such as Tim-4 and phosphatidylserine (PS), with Tim-4 being predominantly expressed on APCs and PS expressed on early apoptotic cells [50, 51]. In addition, Tim-1 functions as a receptor for Hepatitis A virus, hence, its gene is also referred to as Hepatitis A Virus Receptor 1 (*HAVCR1*) [52, 53].

In the kidney, Tim-1 is referred to as kidney injury molecule-1 (Kim-1) and is highly upregulated on proximal tubular epithelial cells (PTECs) during acute kidney injury [48]. Tim-1 is a receptor for phosphatidylserine (PS), which functions as an "eat me" signal on apoptotic and necrotic cells, and Tim-1 ligation induces PTECs to phagocytose apoptotic and necrotic cells [49, 54, 55]. This process aids in the clearance of dying cells and reduces

inflammation [56], which has been shown to promote tissue repair. Mice transplanted with syngeneic Tim-1-expressing donor kidneys exhibited improved graft outcome and greater survival compared to mice receiving Tim-1-deficient donor kidneys, demonstrating the importance of Tim-1 expression in renal repair during transplantation [57, 58].

1.5 Tim-1 in the Immune System

In the immune system, lymphocytes expressing Tim-1 include CD4+ T cells, iNKT cells, and Bregs [59-62]. The TIM gene family was originally discovered in a mouse model of asthma, where Tim-1 expression on T cells was shown to influence the regulation of atopic diseases such as asthma. Some TIM-1 polymorphisms in humans were also associated with an increased risk of asthma [63, 64]. Protection against atopy in humans was associated with prior infection with Hepatitis A virus, the receptor for which is encoded by the Tim-1 gene, *HAVCR1* [52, 65]. This finding was essential in supporting the hygiene hypothesis, which states that the increase of allergic and autoimmune diseases is correlated to the decrease of infectious diseases [66, 67].

Tim-1 expression is upregulated on CD4+ T cells following T cell receptor (TCR) engagement by cognate peptide-MHC interactions on APCs and functions as a costimulatory molecule [52, 68]. Interaction between Tim-1 on activated CD4+ T cells and Tim-4 on APCs can promote T cell activation, proliferation, and cytokine production [50, 69, 70]. Tim-1 is preferentially expressed by Th2 cells, compared to Th1 and Th17 cells [59, 69, 71-73]. Moreover, Tim-1 has been implicated in promoting the trafficking of Th1 and Th17 cells [74]. P-selectin, an adhesion molecule expressed on the surface of activated endothelial cells, is a potential ligand for Tim-1 and can mediate the rolling and tethering of lymphocytes via Tim-1. Th1 and Th17 cells expressing Tim-1 with a deficient mucin

domain exhibited reduced tethering and adherence to P-selectin. In a contact hypersensitivity model, mice with Th1 cells that have mucin domain-deficient Tim-1 were observed to experience a decreased recruitment of Th1 cells to inflamed skin [74]. In addition, mice with Th1 cells that express mucin domain-deficient Tim-1 exhibited decreased severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [74]. Therefore, the expression of Tim-1 could theoretically enhance anti-tumour immunity by inducing the activation of CD4+ T cells, which can subsequently promote inflammatory responses, improve lymphocyte trafficking, and lead to increased CD8+ T cell activation.

Tim-1 is constitutively expressed on iNKT cells and binds PS present on apoptotic cells [75]. This interaction not only leads to iNKT cell activation, proliferation, and cytokine production, but the ligation of PS to Tim-1 on pulmonary iNKT cells can induce airway hyperreactivity, which is a critical feature of asthma [75]. More importantly, iNKT cells have been implicated in promoting an anti-tumour immune response [26]. Studies have shown that mice deficient in iNKT cells exhibit greater tumour growth [76, 77], and in a variety of solid malignancies in humans, diminished iNKT cell function and cell number was observed [78-80]. Notably, iNKT cells can directly kill tumour cells by secreting perforin and granzyme [81], and activation of iNKT cells promotes the induction of CD4+ T cell, CD8+ T cell, and NK cell anti-tumour responses [82-84].

Tim-1 expression is upregulated on B cells upon B cell receptor signalling, and Tim-1 subsequently interacts with PS on apoptotic cells [85]. This leads to B cells differentiating into IL-10-producing Bregs, which are essential for regulating and suppressing immune responses [85, 86]. It has been postulated that Tim-1 is predominantly expressed by B cells, rather than T cells, with approximately 70% of IL-10-producing Bregs expressing Tim-1

[87, 88]. Tim-1 expression on B cells can be induced using anti-IgM *in vitro*, which suggests that Tim-1 expression on B cells is dependent on B cell receptor signalling [62]. It has been shown that mice lacking Tim-1 have a dramatic reduction in the number of IL-10-producing Bregs, which leads to T cell hyper-responsiveness and susceptibility to rejection in cardiac transplantation [85]. In addition, separate studies have demonstrated that the adoptive transfer of Tim-1-expressing Bregs prolonged allograft survival of islet transplants [87] and reduced the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [86]. More importantly, Ding et al. demonstrated accelerated tumour growth in B cell-deficient mice inoculated subcutaneously with B16F10 melanoma and receiving a transfer of syngeneic Tim-1-expressing B cells from B16F10 immunized mice [89]. These findings further suggest that the role of Tim-1 expression on Bregs is immunosuppressive and may potentially inhibit anti-tumour immune responses, but this has not yet been well studied.

Although the versatile role of Tim-1 has been established in parenchymal and immune cells, the potential role of Tim-1 on anti-tumour immunity is not yet known.

1.6 RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS

In this study, the murine tumour models, B16 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma were used to study anti-cancer immune responses. They are widely used in tumour studies, grow well as a subcutaneous tumour, and are variably immunogenic (able to induce an immune response) [90-92]. Thus, these tumours can be readily monitored, and immune responses can be analyzed.

B16 melanoma is a spontaneously derived C57BL/6 cell line, commonly used to study malignant melanoma, its metastatic properties, and various treatment options. Several

variants of B16 melanoma are commercially available, including B16F1 (parental), B16F0 (non-metastatic), and B16F10 (highly metastatic) [90]. In this study, the parental line, B16F1, will be used to investigate anti-tumour immunity in the absence of metastases.

To further support my findings, tumour growth and survival using MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma were studied. MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma was derived from a chemically induced adenocarcinoma in a C57BL/6 mouse, and has been shown to be moderately immunogenic [93]. These murine tumour models were implemented to test the robustness of my hypothesis and to test the ability to generalize my findings to other cancers.

Since the expression of Tim-1 affects the activation and/or function of CD4+ T cells, iNKT cells, and Bregs in various capacities, I hypothesized that the proinflammatory responses of CD4+ T cells and iNKT cells induced by Tim-1 would exceed the immunosuppressive effects of Tim-1-expressing Bregs. I expected to observe decreased tumour growth and improved survival in Tim-1-expressing mice inoculated with subcutaneous tumours, compared to Tim-1-deficient mice.

Chapter 2

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Mice

Male, 8-10 week old, wild-type (Tim-1-expressing) C57BL/6 (B6; H-2^b) mice were purchased from the Charles River Laboratory. Tim-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice were generated and generously provided by Dr. Andrew N.J. McKenzie (MRC laboratory of Molecular Biology, Cambridge, UK). Tim-1-deficient mice were generated by targeted disruption of the mouse Tim-1 (*HAVCR1*^{-/-}) gene in mouse embryonic stem cells, with no change in the overall phenotype compared to wild-type C57BL/6 mice [62]. The Tim-1deficient genotype was confirmed by Dr. Xizhong Zhang (Gunaratnam lab) using PCR genotyping. Mice were maintained in the Animal Care and Veterinary Services facility at the University of Western Ontario (UWO) and food and water were provided ad libitum. All animal protocols were approved by the Animal Care Committee at UWO (Protocol number: 2018-147) (Appendix A).

2.2 Murine Tumour Cell Culture

B16F1 melanoma cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, Virginia, USA). Cells were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI 1640) medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S) (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma cells were generously provided by Dr. James Koropatnick (The University of Western Ontario). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% P/S.

Unless otherwise stated, all cell lines were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂. All cell lines were washed with 1x PBS and passaged for a maximum of 10 times using 0.25% trypsin (Life Technologies).

2.3 Subcutaneous Tumour Models

8-10 week old, male, Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and subcutaneously injected in the right flanks with B16F1 melanoma ($5x10^5$ cells), MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma ($1x10^5$ cells), or B16F10-OVA melanoma ($5x10^5$ cells) in 100ul of Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS). Tumours were measured with calipers and tumour volume was calculated with the formula: mm³=(length x width²)/2. Endpoints were determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour ulceration, or tumour diameter exceeding 10mm, as per standard operating procedures of the Animal Care and Veterinary Services at UWO.

2.4 Histology

Excised tumours were washed with 1X PBS and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 48 hours. Fixed samples were sent to a laboratory technician (Weihua Liu from the Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine at UWO) for paraffin embedding and staining with Hematoxylin & Eosin (H&E). Stained tumour sections were analyzed by a pathologist (Dr. Manal Gabril, MD, MSc, FRCPC) in a blinded fashion and percent necrosis was scored using Suzuki's histological criteria [94]. Suzuki's criteria scores necrosis as a percentage, ranging from none (0%), minimal (single-cell necrosis), mild (< 30%), moderate (30-60%), to severe (> 60%).

2.5 Isolation of Splenocytes

Excised spleens were washed with 1X PBS and mechanically homogenized through a 40um cell strainer (Fisher Scientific) in 1X PBS. The cell suspensions were centrifuged (Thermo Scientific Medifuge Benchtop Centrifuge) at 500rcf for 5 minutes at 4°C and resuspended with 1ml of ACK lysis buffer for each spleen for 1 minute. Splenocytes were washed twice with 1X PBS. For flow cytometry, splenocytes were cryopreserved in 90% FBS and 10% DMSO at -80°C, and when needed, cryopreserved splenocytes were rapidly thawed in RPMI media (with 10% FBS) at 37°C.

2.6 Immunization with Heat-Killed B16F1 Melanoma

B16F1 melanoma cells ($5x10^{6}$ cells/ml) suspended in 1X PBS were heat-killed in a water bath at 65°C for 20 minutes. Heat-killed cells were kept on ice until injections were performed. Mice were anesthetized using isoflurane and $5x10^{5}$ heat-killed B16F1 melanoma cells were subcutaneously injected into the right flanks of Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice. Mice were euthanized on day 7 post-immunization and splenocytes were isolated and process as described above.

2.7 Flow Cytometry

All staining procedures were performed in 1X PBS with 2% FBS at 4°C. To block nonspecific binding, single-cell suspensions were incubated with Purified Rat Anti-Mouse CD16/CD32 (BD Biosciences) for 10 minutes. Without washing, cell surface markers were stained by incubating with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies for 30 minutes and resuspended in 1xPBS with 2% FBS. Intracellular staining was performed using the Foxp3/Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set (eBioscience). Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies used in this study can be found in Table 1. Negative controls were established using isotype-matched controls. Cells were analyzed on a CytoFLEX S flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter), and data obtained were analyzed using FlowJo software (BD Life Sciences).

Antibody	Fluorochrome	Clone	Source
Anti-mouse TCR-β	BV605	H57-597	BioLegend
Anti-mouse CD8a	PE-Cy7	53-6.7	eBioscience
Anti-mouse CD4	BV421	GK1.5	BioLegend
Anti-mouse CD279 (PD-1)	APC	RMP1-30	eBioscience
Anti-mouse T-bet	APC	4B10	BioLegend
Anti-mouse GATA3	APC	16E10A23	BioLegend
Anti-mouse FOXP3	APC	FJK-16s	eBioscience
Anti-mouse NK1.1	APC	PK136	eBioscience
Anti-mouse CD19	APC	6D5	BioLegend
Anti-mouse CD1d	PE-Cy7	1B1	BioLegend
Anti-mouse CD5	BV421	53-7.3	BioLegend
Anti-mouse CD11b	FITC	M1/70	BioLegend
Anti-mouse Ly-6C	BV605	HK1.4	BioLegend
Anti-mouse Ly-6G	BV421	1A8	BioLegend

Table 1. Antibodies used for flow cytometry

2.8 IncuCyte Immune Cell Killing Assay

On day 0, B16F1 melanoma cells were seeded (1000, 2000, or 3000 cells in 100ul of RPMI media + 10% FBS + 1% P/S per well) into a 96-well flat bottom plate (Corning 3595) to achieve a cell confluency of ~20% on day 1. On day 1, media was gently removed from each well. To each well, 100nM of Sytox Green Nucleic Acid Stain (Thermofisher) and effector cells (splenocytes from Tim-1-expressing or Tim-1-deficient mice) in DMEM were added to achieve a total assay volume of 200ul. Two target-to-effector cell ratios were used (1:5 and 1:10). Negative controls received no effector cells (media only) and positive controls received 1% Triton X-100 (Sigma Aldrich). The assay plate was placed into the IncuCyte Live-Cell Analysis System (Essen Bioscience) to be incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ and fluorescent images of each well were taken hourly at 4x magnification for 24 hours.

2.9 In vivo RMT1-10 Treatment

Anti-mouse Tim-1 (RMT1-10; Bio X Cell) or control rat IgG2a (Bio X Cell) was administered intraperitoneally at 300ug in *InVivo*Pure pH 7.0 Dilution Buffer (Bio X Cell) on days –1, 0, and every 3 days relative to the day of subcutaneous tumour injections.

2.10 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses used a log-rank (Mantel Cox) test, a repeated measures ANOVA, a Mann-Whitney test, or an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test, as indicated. Differences were considered significant at p values <0.05.

Chapter 3

3 RESULTS

3.1 Delayed B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and improved survival in Tim-1-deficient mice

I aimed to investigate tumour growth and survival in Tim-1-deficient and Tim-1-expressing (wild-type) C57BL/6 mice using the syngeneic B16F1 melanoma cell line. Mice received a subcutaneous inoculation of 5x10⁵ B16F1 melanoma cells and were weighed, monitored for cachexia, and tumour growth was measured using calipers over time. While I initially hypothesized poorer outcomes in Tim-1-deficient mice, I observed improved survival and delayed tumour growth in Tim-1-deficient mice, compared to wild-type, Tim-1-expressing mice (Figure 1A and 1B). Upon repeating the experiment, I confirmed the original findings, as similar results were observed (Figure 1C and 1D). Tim-1-deficient mice exhibited improved survival and delayed tumour growth, compared to Tim-1-expressing mice (Figure 1C and 1D). Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice are shown in Supplementary Figure 1A and 1B. These findings suggest that Tim-1 expression may promote tumour growth.



Days post B16 injection

A.

0



Figure 1. Delayed B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and improved survival in immunocompetent Tim-1-deficient mice.

r

ኇ

2

× × 20 22

Days post B16 injection

0

6

ዔ

2
Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient male C57BL/6 mice at 8-10 weeks old were subcutaneously inoculated with $5x10^5$ B16F1 melanoma. Endpoints were determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour ulceration, or a mean tumour diameter exceeding 10mm. (**A**) Survival curve (Mantel-Cox test, **p=0.0047) and (**B**) tumour size (mm³) of inoculated Tim-1-expressing (n=4) and Tim-1-deficient (n=5) mice (Repeated Measures ANOVA, ****p<0.0001). In a repeated experiment, (**C**) survival curve (Mantel-Cox test, **p=0.0052) and (**D**) tumour size (mm³) of inoculated Tim-1-expressing (n=4) mice (Repeated Measures ANOVA, ****p<0.0001).

3.2 Reduced levels of tumour necrosis in Tim-1-deficient mice

Tumour necrosis in biopsy specimen from patients with melanoma is considered to be a poor prognostic factor [95]. To examine the levels of necrosis within the implanted B16F1 melanoma tumours, tumours were excised when they reached a diameter of ~10mm. The tumours were fixed in 10% formalin, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned before staining with H&E to observe necrosis. Healthy, viable tumour cells are stained purple with a large, visible nuclei and have a defined cell shape. In contrast, necrotic tumour cells are stained pink with a loss of nuclei [96-98]. Another population of cells with a darker nucleus was noted by the pathologist to potentially be infiltrating lymphocytes, which warrants further study to determine the phenotype of these cells using immunohistochemistry (Figure 2A). The percent necrosis was scored by a pathologist and it was observed that tumours in Tim-1-expressing mice exhibited greater levels of necrosis, compared to tumours in Tim-1-deficient mice (Figure 2B).



B.



Figure 2. Reduced necrosis in tumours of Tim-1-deficient mice.

B16F1 melanoma tumours were excised from Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice at their endpoints. Tumours were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin before sectioning and staining with H&E. (A) Tumour sections from Tim-1expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice are shown at 20x magnification. Scale bar = 100 microns. Areas of necrosis, viable tumour tissue, and suspected TILs are as labelled. (B) Percent necrosis as scored by a pathologist (Mann-Whitney, *p=0.0476).

3.3 *In vitro* T cell killing of B16F1 melanoma cells

Using the IncuCyte Live Cell Imaging System, I sought to assess *in vitro* T cell killing of B16F1 melanoma cells. From tumour-bearing mice, I isolated Tim-1-deficient and Tim-1-expressing splenocytes as effector cells for coculture with the adherent B16F1 melanoma cell line. Graphs were generated using the IncuCyte software to depict the events of green fluorescence (ie. cell death) over time.

Although statistical analyses could not be performed due to the low number of replicates, there did not seem to be any differences in tumour cell death between cocultures using Tim-1-expressing or Tim-1-deficient effector cells (Figure 3A). However, upon analysis of the images taken by the IncuCyte software, I observed that both tumour cells and effector cells were undergoing cell death and took up the Sytox green nucleic acid stain (Figure 3B). This caused cell death between target and effector cells to be indistinguishable. In addition, some graphs generated by the IncuCyte software appeared inconsistent and erratic (Figure 3A). Therefore, the immune cell killing of tumour cells between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient effector cells could not be assessed using the current methodology.



A.



B.



Figure 3. IncuCyte immune cell killing assay.

B16F1 melanoma target cells were seeded into a 96-well plate at various seeding densities (1000, 2000, and 3000 cells/well). Splenocytes were isolated from the spleens of tumourbearing Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient C57BL/6 mice. Splenocytes were added to each well at various target to effector ratios (1:5 and 1:10). 100nm of Sytox green nucleic acid stain was added to each well to visualize cell death. Cocultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 24 hours, and images were taken hourly by the IncuCyte software. (**A**) Representative graphs of various cocultures generated by the IncuCyte software, depicting green fluorescent events (cell death) over time. (**B**) Representative image of a coculture taken by the IncuCyte software.

3.4 Decreased frequencies of Bregs in Tim-1-deficient mice immunized with B16F1 melanoma

To obtain insight into the host's immune response elicited against B16F1 melanoma, I analyzed immune cell frequencies in the spleen of tumour-bearing mice. At their endpoints, the tumour-bearing mice were euthanized, and splenocytes were isolated and stained for multi-colour flow cytometric analysis. The gating strategy used and the analysis of the immune cells are shown in Figure 4A and 4B.

I examined the frequencies of CD8+ T cells, CD4+ T cells – Th1 cells, Th2 cells, and Tregs, NK cells, NKT cells, Bregs, and myeloid cells that include monocytic MDSCs and granulocytic MDSCs between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice. Unexpectedly, I did not observe any differences in the frequency of these immune cell populations between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice (Figure 4C).

In order to stimulate an immune response against the tumour cells, I opted to immunize the Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice by subcutaneously injecting the mice with heat-killed (necrotic) B16F1 melanoma cells. Immunized mice were euthanized 7 days post-immunization, and splenocytes were isolated and stained for flow cytometric analysis as previously performed. I observed decreased frequencies of Bregs and myeloid cells with a phenotype consistent with monocytic MDSCs in the immunized Tim-1-deficient mice (Figure 4D). However, there were no significant differences in the frequency of other immune cell populations between the immunized Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient

mice (Figure 4D). These findings suggest that Tim-1 expression may promote tumour growth via increased frequencies of Bregs.



B.























Bregs

Monocytic MDSCs







D.









Figure 4. Decreased frequencies of Bregs in Tim-1-deficient mice immunized with necrotic B16F1 melanoma cells.

Splenocytes were isolated from B16F1 melanoma tumour-bearing Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice at their endpoints. Splenocytes were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies for analysis using flow cytometry. (A) Gating strategy for extracellular staining of NK cells and NKT cells. (B) Gating strategy for intracellular

staining of Tregs. (**C**) Frequency of immune cell populations in splenocytes of Tim-1expressing (n=3) and Tim-1-deficient (n=3) mice (unpaired t-test). To induce an immune response, Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice were subcutaneously immunized with heat-killed B16F1 melanoma, and splenocytes were isolated 7 days postimmunization. (**D**) Frequency of immune cell populations in splenocytes of immunized Tim-1-expressing (n=3) and Tim-1-deficient (n=3) mice (unpaired t-test, *p<0.05).

3.5 Effect of anti-Tim-1 monoclonal antibody, RMT1-10, on immune responses against B16F1 melanoma

To test the effects of Tim-1 signalling in anti-tumour immune responses *in vivo*, I used the anti-Tim-1 mAb RMT1-10 to activate Tim-1 on immune cells. RMT1-10 is a low affinity anti-Tim-1 mAb that has been shown to induce the expansion of Tim-1-expressing Bregs [87]. RMT1-10 has been used in different murine models to reduce the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [99] and promote cardiac allograft tolerance at the doses used [100]. These data taken together further support the claim that RMT1-10 promotes Breg production.

I administered 300ug of RMT1-10 or 300ug of the isotype control intraperitoneally to Tim-1-expressing mice. Subsequently, mice were subcutaneously inoculated with 5x10⁵ B16F1 melanoma cells. I continued to administer either 300ug of RMT1-10 or 300ug of the isotype control to the respective mice every 3 days subsequent to tumour inoculation. I observed a slight trend of earlier tumour growth and poorer survival in mice receiving RMT1-10, compared to the mice receiving the isotype control (Figure 5A and 5B). Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice are shown in Appendix B. However, these findings were not statistically significant. Further studies with an increased sample size in each group would be necessary to establish if this trend is statistically significant.



Figure 5. Effect of anti-Tim-1 monoclonal antibody, RMT1-10, on B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and survival in Tim-1-expressing mice.

Tim-1-expressing mice received either 300ug of RMT1-10 (n=8) or 300ug of IgG control (n=7) intraperitoneally on days -1, 0, and every 3 days relative to subcutaneous B16F1

test) and (**B**) tumour size (mm³) of inoculated Tim-1-expressing mice treated with either RMT1-10 or IgG control (Repeated Measures ANOVA).

3.6 Effect of MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma in Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice

Finally, in order to determine if the delayed tumour growth and improved survival observed in Tim-1-deficient mice inoculated with B16F1 melanoma were generalizable to other tumour cell lines, I tested tumour growth and survival using MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma. Similar to the B16F1 melanoma cell line, MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma is syngeneic to C57BL/6 mice. Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice were anesthetized using isoflurane and subcutaneously inoculated with 1x10⁵ MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma cells. Consistent with the findings using B16F1 melanoma, Tim-1-deficient mice exhibited delayed tumour growth (Figure 6A). There were no significant differences in the survival between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice (Figure 6B). However, when this experiment was repeated with additional mice in each group, no significant differences were observed in tumour growth and survival (Figure 6C and 6D). Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice are shown in Supplementary Figure 3A and 3B. This potentially indicates that the effects of Tim-1 on anti-tumour immune response may be tumour-dependent.



B.





Figure 6. Effect of MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma on Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice.

Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient male C57BL/6 mice at 8-10 weeks old were subcutaneously inoculated with 1×10^5 MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma. Endpoints were

determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour ulceration, or a mean tumour diameter exceeding 10mm. (**A**) Percent survival (Mantel-Cox test) and (**B**) tumour size (mm³) of inoculated Tim-1-expressing (n=4) and Tim-1-deficient (n=4) mice (Repeated Measures ANOVA, ****p<0.0001). In a repeated experiment, (**C**) percent survival (Mantel-Cox test) and (**D**) tumour size (mm³) of inoculated Tim-1-expressing (n=9) and Tim-1-deficient (n=10) mice (Repeated Measures ANOVA).

Chapter 4

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Overview of study

Tim-1 is a cell-surface glycoprotein expressed on a variety of immune cells. Tim-1expressing immune cells are implicated in allergy, asthma, autoimmune disease, and transplant tolerance. Through different mechanisms, Tim-1 can promote immune responses through T cells and iNKT cells or inhibit immune responses through Breg function [54-93]. However, the role of Tim-1 in anti-tumour immune responses has not been studied in detail.

In this study, I examined the anti-cancer effects of Tim-1 in two mouse tumour models. I initially hypothesized that Tim-1-expressing mice would have an improved prognosis due to the induction of proinflammatory responses of CD4+ T cells and iNKT cells induce by Tim-1. Surprisingly, my findings have demonstrated that Tim-1-deficient mice exhibited delayed tumour growth and improved survival, compared to Tim-1-expressing mice. These findings were accompanied by reduced necrosis in the tumours of Tim-1-deficient mice, which is an indicator of improved prognosis in human melanoma [95]. In addition, reduced frequencies of Bregs were found in B16F1 melanoma-immunized Tim-1-deficient mice. These results suggest that Tim-1 expression in the immune system may be detrimental to anti-tumour immunity, potentially by inducing Bregs. Accordingly, I have revised my hypothesis, and I propose that Tim-1-expressing Bregs contribute to the inhibition of anti-tumour immune responses against B16F1 melanoma.

In my immune cell killing assay using the IncuCyte Live Cell Imaging System, graphs generated by the IncuCyte software appeared inconsistent and erratic. Additionally, I observed cell death in both the tumour cells and effector cells, and cell death between the target and effector cells were indistinguishable. Thus, I was unable to compare the immune cell killing of tumour cells between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient effector cells. The unexpected issue of effector cells undergoing cell death and taking up the nucleic acid stain potentially contributed to the inaccuracies of the graphs, but this can be rectified by further isolating T cells from splenocytes for use as effector cells and by implementing a red cytoplasmic dye to stain the target cells. These changes will ensure the ability to distinguish cell death between the target and effector cells, and potentially demonstrate reduced *in vitro* killing of B16F1 melanoma cells by T cells from Tim-1-expressing mice.

Finally, when Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice were inoculated with syngeneic MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma, I observed delayed tumour growth in the Tim-1-deficient mice, while there were no significant differences in the survival between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice. Unexpectedly, when this experiment was repeated, there were no significant differences in tumour growth or survival. Due to the inconsistencies of these data, it will be necessary to repeat this experiment to confirm my findings. Nevertheless, this potentially suggests that the role of Tim-1 in anti-tumour immunity is a phenomenon that may be restricted to certain types of tumours.

4.2 Immune profiles of B16F1 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma

Since I observed inconsistent findings using B16F1 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma, I postulated that the effects of Tim-1 on anti-tumour immunity may differ depending on the type of tumour and the immune response elicited.

B16F1 melanoma was spontaneously derived, exhibits poor immunogenicity with low levels of immune cell infiltrates, and reduced susceptibility to cytotoxic T cell killing. This is due to its lack of MHC class I expression and chemokine production to recruit T cells and other immune cells [101, 102]. B16F10 melanoma cells, a highly metastatic B16 melanoma cell line, expresses high levels of β -catenin and low levels of other chemokines [103]. In human melanoma, β -catenin signalling is correlated to the prevention of T cell infiltration into tumours and resistance to immune checkpoint inhibition therapy [104]. However, it is important to note that human melanoma is highly immunogenic [102, 105]. In addition, a study showed that B16 melanoma cells express high levels of CTLA-4, which is an inhibitory ligand to suppress the function of T cells. It was also shown that B16 melanoma models were particularly resistant to immunotherapies, in contrast to other tumour models (eg. CT26 colon carcinoma, RENCA renal cell carcinoma, 4T1 mammary carcinoma) [102].

MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma is a carcinogen-induced murine tumour cell line and is moderately immunogenic [106]. Immune cell infiltrates within MC38 tumours in mice include CD8+ T cells and NK cells, with gene expression signatures suggesting that cytolytic activity occurs [106, 107]. However, immunosuppressive cells, such as Tregs and MDSCs, were also abundant [106, 107]. This data is further supported by the detection of the chemokine, KC/GRO, which recruit MDSCs and neutrophils to the tumour [106]. In response to checkpoint inhibition therapies, the MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma model was modestly responsive to checkpoint inhibition, in comparison to other highly responsive murine colon cancers (eg. CT26 colon carcinoma) [107].

Due to the differences between B16F1 melanoma and MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma, I speculate that the immune responses influenced by Tim-1 on these tumours may be dissimilar.

4.3 Potential role of Tim-1-expressing Bregs in suppressing anti-tumour immunity

My findings suggest that Tim-1 expression on Bregs may potentially impede anti-tumour immunity. Bregs secrete IL-10 and TGF- β , cytokines that suppress proinflammatory cells and promote the development and recruitment of Tregs, consequently suppressing anti-tumour immune responses [31, 32]. In a study of murine breast cancer, it was demonstrated that tumour-evoked Bregs promote tumour growth and lung metastases [108]. This effect was indicated to be a result of Treg conversion from resting CD4+ T cells [32, 108]. In addition, tumour-evoked Bregs have been shown to play an important role in regulating the ability of MDSCs to promote metastases and immunosuppression [109]. This is consistent with my findings, where decreased frequencies of both Bregs and potential monocytic MDSCs were observed in the spleens of B16F1 melanoma-immunized Tim-1-deficient mice.

Since Tim-1 signalling induces Breg production/activation and Tim-1 is expressed by ~70% of IL-10 producing Bregs [87], a possible therapeutic would aim to block Tim-1

signalling. My future objective would be to generate a monoclonal antibody to target Tim-1 and inhibit activation/signalling. This therapeutic strategy could potentially reduce the immunosuppressive activity of Bregs and improve anti-cancer immune responses.

4.4 Future studies

Since I have established that Tim-1-deficient mice have a better prognosis against B16F1 melanoma than Tim-1-expressing mice, it is necessary to determine if Tim-1-expressing Bregs are inhibiting anti-tumour immune responses. To achieve this, my next step would be to perform an adoptive transfer using isolated B cells from naive Tim-1-expressing mice, tumour-bearing Tim-1-expressing mice, or tumour-bearing Tim-1-deficient mice into naïve Tim-1-deficient recipients before tumour inoculation. I expect Tim-1-deficient recipients of Tim-1-expressing B cells will have accelerated tumour growth and decreased survival compared to Tim-1-deficient recipients of Tim-1-deficient B cells.

To improve the *in vitro* T cell killing assay using the IncuCyte system, I would incorporate a Red IncuCyte CytoLight Rapid Dye (Sartorius) to selectively label target tumour cells. This will allow us to pinpoint cell death specifically on the target cells and exclude the effector lymphocytes.

Alternatively, I can utilize MHC tetramers to analyze the antigen (tumour)-specific T cell response *in vitro*. MHC tetramers are complexes of 4 MHC molecules which are associated with a specific peptide and are bound to a fluorochrome for analysis using flow cytometry. I will inoculate Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice with B16F10 melanoma expressing the artificial neoantigen, ovalbumin, which will induce a T cell response against the tumour. Using MHC tetramers with an ovalbumin peptide, I can isolate splenocytes

from the tumour-inoculated mice and detect antigen (ovalbumin)-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cells.

4.5 Limitations

My study has a number of limitations. Due to the nature of this study, I required the use of Tim-1-expressing (wild-type) and Tim-1-deficient (Tim-1^{-/-}) mice. Currently, the Gunaratnam laboratory only has access to this model on a C57BL/6 genetic background, which limits the tumour models to cell lines derived from C57BL/6 mice. In future studies, I plan to test tumour models syngeneic to BALB/c mice, which will expand the types of cancers that can be examined and confirm my findings in different strains of mice.

It has been shown that C57BL/6 mice are predisposed to developing a Th1 immune response, while BALB/c mice preferentially develop a Th2 immune response [114]. Since Tim-1 is preferentially expressed by Th2 cells over Th1 cells, my results may not accurately represent the effects of Tim-1 on host lymphocytes in anti-tumour immunity. However, this can be better examined when tumour models in Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient BALB/c mice are implemented in the future.

The mouse models used in this study were restricted to male mice, which do not accurately represent or account for the sex differences observed in the respective cancer. In the United States, the incidence and mortality rate of cancer were higher in men than women from 2009 to 2013 [110]. Additionally, the differences in sex hormones between men and women (eg. testosterone and estrogen, respectively) can impact the development of certain cancers [111]. Studies have shown that historically, males are predominantly used in clinical trials, while females were excluded [112], and increased adverse drug reactions against anti-cancer therapeutics were observed more often in women than men [113]. As a

result, it is important to take the effect of sex differences in cancer into consideration and include studies using both males and females.

In this study, I demonstrated that Tim-1-deficient mice immunized with heat-killed B16F1 melanoma cells exhibited decreased frequencies of splenic Bregs and a myeloid population with potential monocytic MDSCs. While the cell-surface markers used in this study to identify monocytic MDSCs (CD11b+, Ly-6C+) provide an initial framework for characterizing MDSCs, additional markers can be implemented to characterize these cells in further detail [115]. To identify monocytic MDSCs, additional cell-surface markers including Gr-1^{mid} and CD49d+ can be used [116], and additional markers to identify granulocytic MDSCs in further detail include Gr-1^{hi} [116].

In addition, the immune cells I have characterized in this study were restricted to splenocytes. In order to accurately examine anti-tumour immune responses, infiltrating lymphocytes into the tumour and immune cells in the tumour-draining lymph nodes should be examined. Moreover, only three mice were used to analyze the splenic immune cell frequencies between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice, which may not be sufficient to confidently draw firm conclusions. Therefore, it will be necessary to perform additional experiments to investigate the populations of immune cells present in the tumour and lymph nodes of tumour-bearing and tumour-immunized Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice.

Lastly, while subcutaneous tumours can be easily observed and measured with minimal invasiveness, research has shown that the site of tumour inoculation can affect anti-tumour immune responses. In a study of immunotherapies for murine colon cancer, the immune microenvironment of a subcutaneous tumour differed significantly from an orthotopic

gastrointestinal tumour [117]. While the establishment of an orthotopic tumour graft via surgical procedure gives rise to excessive inflammation, these researchers developed a novel orthotopic model using endoscopy-guided microinjection of tumour cells to reduce inflammation. They found that the immune microenvironment of the subcutaneous tumour graft was comprised of lower levels of immune cell infiltrates in the tumour and increased immunosuppressive cells compared to the orthotopic graft [117]. However, for the purposes of my study and for the sake of simplicity, I focused on elucidating the effects of Tim-1 on immune responses against tumours. Despite using the subcutaneous injection model, comparisons of immune responses between Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice can still be made. Once I establish the role of Tim-1 in anti-tumour immunity and specific mechanisms of Tim-1 function, I can address any discrepancies between subcutaneous and orthotopic tumour administration in future studies.

4.6 Conclusion

Cancer remains a highly prevalent and deadly disorder. Although, novel immunotherapies and checkpoint inhibitors have shown some success in patients, only a fraction of patients respond to these therapies. In this study, my work has demonstrated that Tim-1-deficient mice have improved outcomes when inoculated with B16F1 melanoma tumours, compared to Tim-1-expressing mice. Tim-1-deficient mice exhibited improved survival, delayed tumour growth, reduced tumour necrosis, and reduced frequencies of splenic Bregs. With additional research, these findings may potentially lead to improved anti-cancer treatments aimed at suppressing the function of Tim-1-expressing Bregs.

References

- Bray, F., et al., Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin, 2018. 68(6): p. 394-424.
- 2. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *The hallmarks of cancer*. Cell, 2000. **100**(1): p. 57-70.
- 3. Pandya, P.H., et al., *The Immune System in Cancer Pathogenesis: Potential Therapeutic Approaches.* J Immunol Res, 2016. **2016**: p. 4273943.
- 4. Yuen, G.J., E. Demissie, and S. Pillai, *B lymphocytes and cancer: a love-hate relationship.* Trends Cancer, 2016. **2**(12): p. 747-757.
- 5. Martínez-Lostao, L., A. Anel, and J. Pardo, *How Do Cytotoxic Lymphocytes Kill Cancer Cells?* Clin Cancer Res, 2015. **21**(22): p. 5047-56.
- 6. Hashimoto, M., et al., *CD8 T Cell Exhaustion in Chronic Infection and Cancer: Opportunities for Interventions.* Annu Rev Med, 2018. **69**: p. 301-318.
- 7. Kim, H.J. and H. Cantor, *CD4 T-cell subsets and tumor immunity: the helpful and the not-so-helpful.* Cancer Immunol Res, 2014. **2**(2): p. 91-8.
- 8. Bendelac, A., P.B. Savage, and L. Teyton, *The biology of NKT cells*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2007. **25**: p. 297-336.
- 9. Hadrup, S., M. Donia, and P. Thor Straten, *Effector CD4 and CD8 T cells and their role in the tumor microenvironment*. Cancer Microenviron, 2013. **6**(2): p. 123-33.
- 10. Wajant, H., *The role of TNF in cancer*. Results Probl Cell Differ, 2009. **49**: p. 1-15.
- 11. Prévost-Blondel, A., et al., *Differential requirement of perforin and IFN-gamma in CD8 T cell-mediated immune responses against B16.F10 melanoma cells expressing a viral antigen.* Eur J Immunol, 2000. **30**(9): p. 2507-15.
- 12. Tsukumo, S.I. and K. Yasutomo, *Regulation of CD8*. Front Immunol, 2018. **9**: p. 101.
- Kaplan, D.H., et al., Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998.
 95(13): p. 7556-61.

- Mattes, J., et al., Immunotherapy of cytotoxic T cell-resistant tumors by T helper 2 cells: an eotaxin and STAT6-dependent process. J Exp Med, 2003. 197(3): p. 387-93.
- 15. Tatsumi, T., et al., *Disease-associated bias in T helper type 1 (Th1)/Th2 CD4(+) T cell responses against MAGE-6 in HLA-DRB10401(+) patients with renal cell carcinoma or melanoma.* J Exp Med, 2002. **196**(5): p. 619-28.
- 16. Numasaki, M., et al., *IL-17 enhances the net angiogenic activity and in vivo growth of human non-small cell lung cancer in SCID mice through promoting CXCR-2-dependent angiogenesis.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(9): p. 6177-89.
- 17. Muranski, P., et al., *Tumor-specific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma*. Blood, 2008. **112**(2): p. 362-73.
- 18. Martin-Orozco, N., et al., *T helper 17 cells promote cytotoxic T cell activation in tumor immunity*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(5): p. 787-98.
- 19. Quezada, S.A., et al., *Tumor-reactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts.* J Exp Med, 2010. **207**(3): p. 637-50.
- 20. Kobayashi, H., et al., *Recognition of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma cells by CD4+ helper T lymphocytes specific for human T-cell leukemia virus type I envelope protein.* Clin Cancer Res, 2004. **10**(20): p. 7053-62.
- 21. Ohue, Y. and H. Nishikawa, *Regulatory T (Treg) cells in cancer: Can Treg cells be a new therapeutic target?* Cancer Sci, 2019. **110**: p. 2080–2089.
- 22. Shimasaki, N., A. Jain, and D. Campana, *NK cells for cancer immunotherapy*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2020. **19**(3): p. 200-218.
- 23. Sharma, P., P. Kumar, and R. Sharma, *Natural Killer Cells Their Role in Tumour Immunosurveillance*. J Clin Diagn Res, 2017. **11**(8): p. BE01-BE05.
- 24. Vivier, E., et al., *Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells.* Science, 2011. **331**(6013): p. 44-9.
- 25. Woo, S.R., L. Corrales, and T.F. Gajewski, *Innate immune recognition of cancer*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 445-74.
- McEwen-Smith, R.M., M. Salio, and V. Cerundolo, *The regulatory role of invariant NKT cells in tumor immunity*. Cancer Immunol Res, 2015. 3(5): p. 425-35.
- 27. Wu, D.Y., et al., *Cross-presentation of disialoganglioside GD3 to natural killer T cells.* J Exp Med, 2003. **198**(1): p. 173-81.

- 28. Fallarini, S., et al., *Invariant NKT cells increase drug-induced osteosarcoma cell death*. Br J Pharmacol, 2012. **167**(7): p. 1533-49.
- 29. Hix, L.M., et al., *CD1d-expressing breast cancer cells modulate NKT cellmediated antitumor immunity in a murine model of breast cancer metastasis.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(6): p. e20702.
- 30. Peng, B., Y. Ming, and C. Yang, *Regulatory B cells: the cutting edge of immune tolerance in kidney transplantation*. Cell Death Dis, 2018. **9**(2): p. 109.
- 31. Sarvaria, A., J.A. Madrigal, and A. Saudemont, *B cell regulation in cancer and anti-tumor immunity*. Cell Mol Immunol, 2017. **14**(8): p. 662-674.
- 32. Zhang, Y., N. Gallastegui, and J.D. Rosenblatt, *Regulatory B cells in anti-tumor immunity*. Int Immunol, 2015. **27**(10): p. 521-30.
- 33. Rosser, E.C. and C. Mauri, *Regulatory B cells: origin, phenotype, and function*. Immunity, 2015. **42**(4): p. 607-12.
- 34. Mauri, C., et al., *Prevention of arthritis by interleukin 10-producing B cells*. J Exp Med, 2003. **197**(4): p. 489-501.
- 35. Fillatreau, S., et al., *B cells regulate autoimmunity by provision of IL-10*. Nat Immunol, 2002. **3**(10): p. 944-50.
- 36. Mizoguchi, A., et al., *Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation.* Immunity, 2002. **16**(2): p. 219-30.
- Horikawa, M., et al., Regulatory B cell production of IL-10 inhibits lymphoma depletion during CD20 immunotherapy in mice. J Clin Invest, 2011. 121(11): p. 4268-80.
- 38. Minard-Colin, V., et al., *Lymphoma depletion during CD20 immunotherapy in mice is mediated by macrophage FcgammaRI, FcgammaRII, and FcgammaRIV.* Blood, 2008. **112**(4): p. 1205-13.
- 39. Bodogai, M., et al., *Anti-CD20 antibody promotes cancer escape via enrichment of tumor-evoked regulatory B cells expressing low levels of CD20 and CD137L.* Cancer Res, 2013. **73**(7): p. 2127-38.
- 40. Dunn, G.P., L.J. Old, and R.D. Schreiber, *The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting*. Immunity, 2004. **21**(2): p. 137-48.
- 41. Schreiber, R.D., L.J. Old, and M.J. Smyth, *Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion*. Science, 2011. **331**(6024): p. 1565-70.

- 42. Zitvogel, L., et al., *The anticancer immune response: indispensable for therapeutic success?* J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(6): p. 1991-2001.
- 43. Rabinovich, G.A., D. Gabrilovich, and E.M. Sotomayor, *Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2007. **25**: p. 267-96.
- 44. Parker, K.H., D.W. Beury, and S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, *Myeloid-Derived* Suppressor Cells: Critical Cells Driving Immune Suppression in the Tumor Microenvironment. Adv Cancer Res, 2015. **128**: p. 95-139.
- 45. Silvestri, I., et al., *Beyond the Immune Suppression: The Immunotherapy in Prostate Cancer*. Biomed Res Int, 2015. **2015**: p. 794968.
- 46. Pardoll, D.M., *The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2012. **12**(4): p. 252-64.
- 47. Wei, S.C., et al., *Distinct Cellular Mechanisms Underlie Anti-CTLA-4 and Anti-PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade*. Cell, 2017. **170**(6): p. 1120-1133.e17.
- 48. Ichimura, T., et al., *Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1), a putative epithelial cell adhesion molecule containing a novel immunoglobulin domain, is up-regulated in renal cells after injury.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(7): p. 4135-42.
- 49. Ichimura, T., et al., *Kidney injury molecule-1 is a phosphatidylserine receptor that confers a phagocytic phenotype on epithelial cells.* J Clin Invest, 2008. 118(5): p. 1657-68.
- 50. Du, P., et al., *Immune Regulation and Antitumor Effect of TIM-1*. J Immunol Res, 2016. **2016**: p. 8605134.
- 51. Kuchroo, V.K., et al., *TIM family of genes in immunity and tolerance*. Adv Immunol, 2006. **91**: p. 227-49.
- 52. McIntire, J.J., et al., *Identification of Tapr (an airway hyperreactivity regulatory locus) and the linked Tim gene family.* Nat Immunol, 2001. **2**(12): p. 1109-16.
- 53. Tami, C., et al., *Immunoglobulin A (IgA) is a natural ligand of hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 1 (HAVCR1), and the association of IgA with HAVCR1 enhances virus-receptor interactions.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(7): p. 3437-46.
- 54. Santiago, C., et al., *Structures of T Cell immunoglobulin mucin receptors 1 and 2 reveal mechanisms for regulation of immune responses by the TIM receptor family.* Immunity, 2007. **26**(3): p. 299-310.
- 55. Kobayashi, N., et al., *TIM-1 and TIM-4 glycoproteins bind phosphatidylserine and mediate uptake of apoptotic cells.* Immunity, 2007. **27**(6): p. 927-40.

- 56. Yang, L., et al., *KIM-1-mediated phagocytosis reduces acute injury to the kidney*. J Clin Invest, 2015. **125**(4): p. 1620-36.
- 57. Ismail, O.Z., et al., *Kidney injury molecule-1 protects against Ga12 activation and tissue damage in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury*. Am J Pathol, 2015.
 185(5): p. 1207-15.
- 58. Lee, J.Y., et al., Donor Kidney Injury Molecule-1 promotes graft recovery by regulating systemic necroinflammation. 2018.
- 59. Yeung, M.Y., M. McGrath, and N. Najafian, *The emerging role of the TIM molecules in transplantation*. Am J Transplant, 2011. **11**(10): p. 2012-9.
- 60. Rennert, P.D., *Novel roles for TIM-1 in immunity and infection*. Immunol Lett, 2011. **141**(1): p. 28-35.
- 61. Ries, A.L., et al., *Restricted pulmonary function in cystic fibrosis*. Chest, 1988. **94**(3): p. 575-9.
- 62. Wong, S.H., et al., *Tim-1 is induced on germinal centre B cells through B-cell receptor signalling but is not essential for the germinal centre response.* Immunology, 2010. **131**(1): p. 77-88.
- 63. Lee, J., et al., *TIM polymorphisms--genetics and function*. Genes Immun, 2011. **12**(8): p. 595-604.
- 64. Gao, P.S., et al., *Genetic variants of the T-cell immunoglobulin mucin 1 but not the T-cell immunoglobulin mucin 3 gene are associated with asthma in an African American population.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **115**(5): p. 982-8.
- 65. McIntire, J.J., D.T. Umetsu, and R.H. DeKruyff, *TIM-1*, a novel allergy and asthma susceptibility gene. Springer Semin Immunopathol, 2004. **25**(3-4): p. 335-48.
- 66. Strachan, D.P., *Hay fever, hygiene, and household size*. BMJ, 1989. **299**(6710): p. 1259-60.
- 67. Okada, H., et al., *The 'hygiene hypothesis' for autoimmune and allergic diseases: an update*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2010. **160**(1): p. 1-9.
- 68. Curtiss, M. and J. Colgan, *The role of the T-cell costimulatory molecule Tim-1 in the immune response*. Immunol Res, 2007. **39**(1-3): p. 52-61.
- 69. Meyers, J.H., et al., *TIM-4 is the ligand for TIM-1, and the TIM-1-TIM-4 interaction regulates T cell proliferation*. Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(5): p. 455-64.
- 70. Miyanishi, M., et al., *Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor*. Nature, 2007. **450**(7168): p. 435-9.
- 71. Kuchroo, V.K., et al., *New roles for TIM family members in immune regulation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(8): p. 577-80.
- 72. Umetsu, S.E., et al., *TIM-1 induces T cell activation and inhibits the development of peripheral tolerance*. Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(5): p. 447-54.
- 73. Nakae, S., et al., *Phenotypic differences between Th1 and Th17 cells and negative regulation of Th1 cell differentiation by IL-17.* J Leukoc Biol, 2007. **81**(5): p. 1258-68.
- 74. Angiari, S., et al., *TIM-1 glycoprotein binds the adhesion receptor P-selectin and mediates T cell trafficking during inflammation and autoimmunity*. Immunity, 2014. **40**(4): p. 542-53.
- 75. Lee, H.H., et al., *Apoptotic cells activate NKT cells through T cell Ig-like mucinlike-1 resulting in airway hyperreactivity.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(9): p. 5225-35.
- 76. Swann, J.B., et al., *Type I natural killer T cells suppress tumors caused by p53 loss in mice*. Blood, 2009. **113**(25): p. 6382-5.
- 77. Bellone, M., et al., *iNKT cells control mouse spontaneous carcinoma independently of tumor-specific cytotoxic T cells.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(1): p. e8646.
- 78. Dhodapkar, M.V., et al., *A reversible defect in natural killer T cell function characterizes the progression of premalignant to malignant multiple myeloma.* J Exp Med, 2003. **197**(12): p. 1667-76.
- 79. Tahir, S.M., et al., *Loss of IFN-gamma production by invariant NK T cells in advanced cancer*. J Immunol, 2001. **167**(7): p. 4046-50.
- 80. Crough, T., et al., *Modulation of human Valpha24(+)Vbeta11(+) NKT cells by age, malignancy and conventional anticancer therapies.* Br J Cancer, 2004. **91**(11): p. 1880-6.
- 81. Bassiri, H., et al., *iNKT cell cytotoxic responses control T-lymphoma growth in vitro and in vivo*. Cancer Immunol Res, 2014. **2**(1): p. 59-69.
- 82. Lam, P.Y., M.D. Nissen, and S.R. Mattarollo, *Invariant Natural Killer T Cells in Immune Regulation of Blood Cancers: Harnessing Their Potential in Immunotherapies.* Front Immunol, 2017. **8**: p. 1355.
- 83. Carnaud, C., et al., *Cutting edge: Cross-talk between cells of the innate immune system: NKT cells rapidly activate NK cells.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(9): p. 4647-50.
- 84. Hermans, I.F., et al., *NKT cells enhance CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses to soluble antigen in vivo through direct interaction with dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 2003. **171**(10): p. 5140-7.

- 85. Yeung, M.Y., et al., *TIM-1 signaling is required for maintenance and induction of regulatory B cells*. Am J Transplant, 2015. **15**(4): p. 942-53.
- Xiao, S., et al., *Tim-1 is essential for induction and maintenance of IL-10 in regulatory B cells and their regulation of tissue inflammation*. J Immunol, 2015. 194(4): p. 1602-8.
- 87. Ding, Q., et al., *Regulatory B cells are identified by expression of TIM-1 and can be induced through TIM-1 ligation to promote tolerance in mice.* J Clin Invest, 2011. **121**(9): p. 3645-56.
- 88. Alhabbab, R.Y., et al., *Regulatory B cells: Development, phenotypes, functions, and role in transplantation.* Immunol Rev, 2019. **292**(1): p. 164-179.
- Ding, Q., et al., *TIM-4 Identifies IFN-γ-Expressing Proinflammatory B Effector 1* Cells That Promote Tumor and Allograft Rejection. J Immunol, 2017. 199(7): p. 2585-2595.
- 90. Overwijk, W.W. and N.P. Restifo, *B16 as a mouse model for human melanoma*. Curr Protoc Immunol, 2001. **Chapter 20**: p. Unit 20.1.
- 91. Nishikawa, M., et al., *Induction of tumor-specific immune response by gene transfer of Hsp70-cell-penetrating peptide fusion protein to tumors in mice.* Mol Ther, 2010. **18**(2): p. 421-8.
- 92. Hampton, T.A., et al., *SEREX analysis for tumor antigen identification in a mouse model of adenocarcinoma*. Cancer Gene Ther, 2000. **7**(3): p. 446-55.
- 93. Efremova, M., et al., *Targeting immune checkpoints potentiates immunoediting and changes the dynamics of tumor evolution*. Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 32.
- 94. Li, Y., et al., *Minocycline protects against hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury in a rat model.* Biomed Rep, 2015. **3**(1): p. 19-24.
- 95. Ladstein, R.G., et al., *Tumor necrosis is a prognostic factor in thick cutaneous melanoma*. Am J Surg Pathol, 2012. **36**(10): p. 1477-82.
- 96. Elmore, S.A., et al., *Recommendations from the INHAND Apoptosis/Necrosis Working Group*. Toxicol Pathol, 2016. **44**(2): p. 173-88.
- 97. Li, D.Y., et al., Antitumor effect and immune response induced by local hyperthermia in B16 murine melanoma: Effect of thermal dose. Oncol Lett, 2012. 4(4): p. 711-718.
- 98. Gamrekelashvili, J., et al., *Necrotic tumor cell death in vivo impairs tumor-specific immune responses*. J Immunol, 2007. **178**(3): p. 1573-80.

- 99. Xiao, S., et al., *Differential engagement of Tim-1 during activation can positively or negatively costimulate T cell expansion and effector function.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(7): p. 1691-702.
- 100. Ueno, T., et al., *The emerging role of T cell Ig mucin 1 in alloimmune responses in an experimental mouse transplant model.* J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(2): p. 742-51.
- 101. Wang, J., et al., *Eliciting T cell immunity against poorly immunogenic tumors by immunization with dendritic cell-tumor fusion vaccines*. J Immunol, 1998.
 161(10): p. 5516-24.
- 102. Lechner, M.G., et al., *Immunogenicity of murine solid tumor models as a defining feature of in vivo behavior and response to immunotherapy*. J Immunother, 2013. 36(9): p. 477-89.
- 103. Yu, J.W., et al., *Tumor-immune profiling of murine syngeneic tumor models as a framework to guide mechanistic studies and predict therapy response in distinct tumor microenvironments.* PLoS One, 2018. **13**(11): p. e0206223.
- 104. Spranger, S., R. Bao, and T.F. Gajewski, *Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity*. Nature, 2015. **523**(7559): p. 231-5.
- 105. Zeiser, R., et al., *Immunotherapy for malignant melanoma*. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther, 2012. **7**(3): p. 217-28.
- 106. Mosely, S.I., et al., *Rational Selection of Syngeneic Preclinical Tumor Models for Immunotherapeutic Drug Discovery*. Cancer Immunol Res, 2017. **5**(1): p. 29-41.
- 107. Taylor, M.A., et al., Longitudinal immune characterization of syngeneic tumor models to enable model selection for immune oncology drug discovery. J Immunother Cancer, 2019. 7(1): p. 328.
- Olkhanud, P.B., et al., *Tumor-evoked regulatory B cells promote breast cancer metastasis by converting resting CD4⁺ T cells to T-regulatory cells*. Cancer Res, 2011. **71**(10): p. 3505-15.
- 109. Bodogai, M., et al., Immunosuppressive and Prometastatic Functions of Myeloid-Derived Suppressive Cells Rely upon Education from Tumor-Associated B Cells. Cancer Res, 2015. 75(17): p. 3456-65.
- Siegel, R.L., K.D. Miller, and A. Jemal, *Cancer Statistics*, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin, 2017. 67(1): p. 7-30.
- 111. Kim, H.I., H. Lim, and A. Moon, *Sex Differences in Cancer: Epidemiology, Genetics and Therapy.* Biomol Ther (Seoul), 2018. **26**(4): p. 335-342.

- 112. Liu, K.A. and N.A. Mager, *Women's involvement in clinical trials: historical perspective and future implications.* Pharm Pract (Granada), 2016. **14**(1): p. 708.
- 113. Wang, J. and Y. Huang, *Pharmacogenomics of sex difference in chemotherapeutic toxicity*. Curr Drug Discov Technol, 2007. **4**(1): p. 59-68.
- 114. Jovicic, N., et al., Differential Immunometabolic Phenotype in Th1 and Th2 Dominant Mouse Strains in Response to High-Fat Feeding. PLoS One, 2015.
 10(7): p. e0134089.
- 115. Bronte, V., et al., *Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards*. Nat Commun, 2016. **7**: p. 12150.
- 116. Gabrilovich, D.I., S. Ostrand-Rosenberg, and V. Bronte, *Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(4): p. 253-68.
- 117. Zhao, X., et al., *Tumor location impacts immune response in mouse models of colon cancer*. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(33): p. 54775-54787.

APPENDICES

Appendix A. Animal Ethics Approval

Western 🐼

AUP Number: 2018-147

PI Name: Gunaratnam, Lakshman AUP Title: Establishing the Role of Kidney Injury Molecule-1 (KIM-1) in Cancer Official Notification of ACC Approval: A MODIFICATION to Animal Use Protocol **2018-147** has been approved.

Please at this time review your AUP with your research team to ensure full understanding by everyone listed within thi s AUP.

As per your declaration within this approved AUP, you are obligated to ensure that:

1) Animals used in this research project will be cared for in alignment with:

a) Western's Senate MAPPs 7.12, 7.10, and 7.15 <u>http://www.uwo.ca/univsec/policies_procedures/re</u>

<u>search.html</u>

b) University Council on Animal Care Policies and related Animal Care Committee procedures

c) <u>http://uwo.ca/research/services/animalethics/animal_care_and_use_policies.htm</u>

2) As per UCAC's Animal Use Protocols Policy,

a) this AUP accurately represents intended animal use;

b) external approvals associated with this AUP, including permits and scientific/departmental peer app rovals, are complete and accurate;

c) any divergence from this AUP will not be undertaken until the related Protocol Modification is approved by the ACC; and

d) AUP form submissions - Annual Protocol Renewals and Full AUP Renewals - will be submitted and a

ttended to within timeframes outlined by the ACC.<u>http://uwo.ca/research/services/animalethics/animal_use_protocols_.html_</u>

3) As per MAPP 7.10 all individuals listed within this AUP as having any hands-on animal contact will

a) be made familiar with and have direct access to this AUP;

- b) complete all required CCAC mandatory training ([training@uwo.ca]training@uwo.ca); and
- c) be overseen by me to ensure appropriate care and use of animals.

4) As per MAPP 7.15,

a) Practice will align with approved AUP elements;

b) Unrestricted access to all animal areas will be given to ACVS Veterinarians and ACC Leaders;

c) UCAC policies and related ACC procedures will be followed, including but not limited to:

- i) Research Animal Procurement
- ii) Animal Care and Use Records
- iii) Sick Animal Response
- iv) Continuing Care Visits

5) As per institutional OH&S policies, all individuals listed within this AUP who will be using or potentially expose d to hazardous materials will have completed in advance

the appropriate institutional OH&S training, facility-level training, and reviewed related (M)SDS Sheets, <u>http://www.uwo.ca/hr/learning/required/index.html</u>

Submitted by: Kinchlea, Will D on behalf of the Animal Care Committee University Council on Animal Care







Supplementary Figure 1. Delayed B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and improved survival in immunocompetent Tim-1-deficient mice.

Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient male C57BL/6 mice at 8-10 weeks old were subcutaneously inoculated with 5x10⁵ B16F1 melanoma. Endpoints were determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour ulceration, or a mean tumour diameter exceeding 10mm. (**A**) Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice. (**B**) Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice.



Supplementary Figure 2. Effect of anti-Tim-1 monoclonal antibody, RMT1-10, on B16F1 melanoma tumour growth and survival in Tim-1-expressing mice.

Tim-1-expressing mice received either 300ug of RMT1-10 (n=8) or 300ug of IgG control (n=7) intraperitoneally on days -1, 0, and every 3 days relative to subcutaneous B16F1 melanoma administration. Endpoints were determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour

ulceration, or a mean tumour diameter exceeding 10mm. (A) Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice.



A.



Days post MC38 injection



Supplementary Figure 3. Effect of MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma on Tim-1expressing and Tim-1-deficient mice.

Tim-1-expressing and Tim-1-deficient male C57BL/6 mice at 8-10 weeks old were subcutaneously inoculated with 1×10^5 MC38 colorectal adenocarcinoma. Endpoints were determined by incidence of cachexia, tumour ulceration, or a mean tumour diameter exceeding 10mm. (**A**) Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice. (**B**) Spider plots depicting tumour growth from individual mice.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Ingrid Hon							
Post-secondary	The University of Western Ontario							
Education and	London, Ontario, Canada							
Degrees:	2014-2018 BSc. – Medical Sciences (Honors Specialization in							
	Microbiology & Immunology with distinction)							
	The University of Western Ontario							
	London, Ontario, Canada							
	2018-Present MSc. – Microbiology & Immunology							
Honours and	Lawson Internal Research Fund Studentship							
Awards:	2019							
	The Western Scholarship of Excellence							
	2014							
Related Work	Graduate Teaching Assistant							
Experience:	The University of Western Ontario							
	2020							

Abstract	Title:	Elucidating	The Ro	le Of	Host	T Cell	Immunoglobulin	And M	Mucin
Domain-1	(Tim-	1) In Anti-Tu	mour Im	muni	ty – Ing	rid Ho	n and Lakshman G	Gunarat	nam

Infection and Immunity Research Forum 2017 – London, Ontario

Conferences: